


affecting commerce in violation of Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, as amended, 15 U.S.C. 

5 45(a). 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

2. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to 15 U.S.C. 

$5  45(a), and 53(b), and 28 U.S.C. $5 1331, 1337(a) and 1345. 

3. Venue is proper in the United States District Court for the Middle District of 

Floridapwsuant to 15 U.S.C. 5 53(b) and 28 U.S.C. $5 1391(b) and (c). 

PLAINTIFF 

4. Plaintiff, the Federal Trade Commission ("the Commission"), is an independent 





formulates, or participates in the acts or practices alleged in this Complaint. J. Steven 

McWhorter resides in the Middle District of Florida. 

10. Relief defendant Jeffrey E. Poorman is the second largest shareholder of 

defendant Flagship. No violations of Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. 5 45(a), are 

alleged against Mr. Poorman, who is joined solely as a relief defendant. Mr. Poorman is a 

Flagship and ICS director. Since the formation of the corporate defendants, he has received 

hnds and other property that were derived unlawfully from payments by consumers as a 

consequence of the acts and practices complained of herein. Jeffrey E. Poorman transacts or 

has transacted business in the Middle District of Florida. 

11. Relief defendant Daniel M. Melgar, Sr. is the third largest shareholder of 

defendant Flagship. No violations of Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. 5 45(a), are 

alleged against Mr. Melgar, who is joined solely 
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COMMERCE 

13. At all times relevant to this Complaint, the defendants have maintained a 

substantial course of business in the advertising and marketing of debt management 

programs, including the acts and practices alleged herein, in or affecting commerce, as 

"commerce" is defined in Section 4 of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. $44. 

DEFENDANTS' BUSINESS PRACTICES 

Defendants' Entrv Into the Credit counsel in^ Market 

14. In April 1999, Flagship Capital Services Corp. and Twenty-First Century 

Lending Corp., two mortgage companies that lent money to consumers, merged to become 

Flagship. Flagship exited the consumer lending market in the summer of 2000 and entered 

the "customer acquisition and marketing" business through its wholly-owned subsidiary, 

ICS. Flagship directly controls ICS and the companies share the same management. Other 

than ICS, Flagship has no business operations. Flagship currently has 34 shareholders. 

15. In the summer of 2000, Flagship funded the formation of Lighthouse. Lighthouse 

describes itself as a non-profit credit counseling organization dedicated to assisting 

consumers having difficulties with their personal finances. Its clients include over-extended 

consumers with excessive debt who are having difficulties making their required monthly 

payments on time. 

16. The credit counseling industry has been in existence for over 50 years. 

Historically, credit counseling organizations have been non-profit companies offering 

consumers with financial difficulties advice fiom credit counselors. This advice may 

include helping consumers develop a budget and providing advice on reducing expenses or 

suggesting that the consumer directly negotiate reduced payments with his creditors. 

17. When appropriate for a particular consumer, a credit counseling organization may 

also help the consumer restructure his existing debt payments through a debt management 

plan ("DMP"). DMPs allow consumers to pay the credit counseling organization one 



consolidated monthly payment for all their unsecured debts that are included in the plan. 

After it collects the monthly payment, the organization disburses payments to the creditors 

on the plan. Creditors often reduce interest rates and waive certain fees, including late fees, 

to consumers who pay through a DMP. 

The market in-̂ Program 

18. Soon after its incorporation in April 2000, ICS began soliciting consumers for 

Lighthouse's purported credit counseling program through its call center in Largo, Florida. 

ICS, directly or through its third-party contractors, daily sends out thousands and sometimes 

millions of unsolicited pre-recorded phone messages to United States households urging 

consumers to contact ICS. ICS telemarketers then answer incoming calls at ICS's call 

center, collect an enrollment fee for Lighthouse's program from the consumer by charging 

the consumer's credit card, and transfer the caller to Lighthouse. 

19. Although ICS has had various clients since 2000, ICS has marketed primarily on 

behalf of Lighthouse and has received over 90% of its gross revenue from Lighthouse. 

From July 2000 to the present, ICS has solicited more than 100,000 consumers to enroll in 

Lighthouse's credit counseling program. 

20. In a typical pre-recorded message, an ICS telemarketer states that he is calling 

from ICS and encourages the consumer to call back to consolidate credit card payments 

through "a certified non-profit nationwide program." The message also states that the 

consumer is approved for the program as long as the consumer has credit cards, and that the 

consumer can reduce some of his credit card rates to "as low as 1.5%." Other ICS 

prerecorded messages have stated that the consumer has been "approved to consolidate 

[his/her] credit cards, down to as low as 1.5%." In addition, at least one ICS inbound call 

script reads: "We have many creditors that will go as low as 1.5%." 



21. ICS telemarketers have also stated in pre-recorded messages that Lighthouse can 

"lower your rates before your next billing cycle." A typical credit card billing cycle is every 

thirty (3 0) days. 

22. When a consumer responds to this message, an ICS telemarketer asks him if he 

contacted ICS to reduce his interest rates "through non-profit credit counseling." After the 

ICS telemarketer collects information about the consumer's existing debt and interest rates, 

he informs the consumer that ICS works with "non-profit organizations" that are authorized 

by the credit card companies to lower the consumer's debt. He also tells the consumer that 
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also required to meet a daily quota of consumers enrolled in DMPs. This quota has ranged 

between eight and twenty enrollments daily. Lighthouse representatives who did not meet 

the quota on a 



office and telephone system until Lighthouse moved to a different office in the same 

building. 

4 1. Lighthouse has generated profits for Flagship by paying ICS significant fees for its 

marketing and DMP enrollment services pursuant to a constantly-changing series of 

contracts, some of which were oral. The ICS-Lighthouse contracts demonstrate that 

Lighthouse has operated as an instrumentality of ICS and Flagship. These contracts have 

been adjusted carefully over time to maximize the flow of money to ICS and Flagship. 

42. ICS's revenue from Lighthouse also has directly benefitted Lighthouse's founder 

and president, Mary H. Melcer, in her capacity as a Flagship shareholder, and the relief 

defendants, as shareholders. 

VIOLATIONS OF SECTION 5 OF THE FTC ACT 

43. Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. 5 45(a), prohibits unfair or deceptive acts 

and practices in or affecting commerce. 

44. Misrepresentations or omissions of material fact likely to mislead consumers 

acting reasonably under the circumstances constitute deceptive acts or practices prohibited 

by Section 5 of the FTC Act. 

COUNT ONE 
MISREPRESENTATION THAT LIGHTHOUSE OFFERS CREDZT COUNSELING 


SERVICES 


45. In the course of marketing debt management debendants,phav Cepresentaed,
aexresesy of pbyinmplictions Othatlighthouse'Fwillprohvden

cousumers pwithcoredittournslieg 

aservces ,sincludng ogmr the pr5C �/LI_LA4d�(pr5C �T7vden)Tj�e0.0101 T1.241 0 yy 

I n  pdng l i g h t h o 0 g 2 d R s e e ' T j 5 3  T c  1 . 0 2 n o t l i c t i o n s  

c o u s u m e r s  

d e ' g h t h o u s 7  T c  2 . 5 9 9  m � ( M i s r e p r e s e n t a t i 6 e r v  T c  3 . 9 5 6 r 0  T d � ( t h e  ) T j � 1 . 4 3 f a l l i g h t h o 0 1 0 9 ) T j � 4 . 0 3 4 2 1  T d � ( T j � 4 8 T j � 3 . 6 8 8  0  T d � � ( o g m r  ) T j � 3 . 3 - g 2 d R s e 5 0  T c  1 . 9 7 8 2 1  T d � ( a n d  ) T j � 4 9 T j � 3 . 2  5 8 0  T d � ( c o n s t i t T j � 0 8 3 6 c  - 3 4 . 2 5  - 1 . 3  0  T d � ( d e c e p t c e s  ) T j � - 0 . 0 1 9 9 ) T j � 1 . 4 3 4  0  T d � ( a c h a t ) T j � 2  T c  1 . 7 4 6  0  T d � 0 1 0 1  T c  1 . 0 0 8  0  T d � ( p r a c t i 0 2 0 2  T c  3 . 7 6 2  0  T d � ( i 0 1  T c  0 . 9 8 v i o l a  T d � ( S e c t e s  ) T j � - 0 . 0 1 0 6  T c  2 . 7 9 3  0  T d � ( o f  ) T j � T  ) T j � 3 . 8 1  0  T d � ( S e c t i o n T j � - ) T j � 3 . 2 ( a ) T d � ( a c t s  ) T j � 0 . 0 1 0 l ) T j � 1 . 7 0 3  0  T d � ( o f  ) T j � 0  T c  1 . 0 4 7  0  T d � ( t h e 5 ) T j � 1 . 7 0 6  0  T d � ( F T C  ) T j � - 0 . 0 1 0 9 ) T j � 1 . 4 3 A 0  p l i c t i T j � 0  T c  1 . 9 7 1 5 0  T d � ( o f  ) T j 1 0 T c  1 2 . 5 9 U . S . C . T d � ( a c t s ) T j � - 0 . 7 5 9 4 8 T j � 3 . 6 8 5 4 2 ( a )  





COUNT FIVE 
MISmPRESENTATION THAT LIGHTHOUSE IS A NOWROFIT  ENTITY 

57. In the course of marketing debt 




